STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jun 08 2020

Appeal from Anderson County

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEPHEN GRANT PARTEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000326

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to sever the burglary and grand larceny charges from the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping charges where the offenses did not arise from a single chain of events, were not of the same general nature, and were not supported by the same evidence?

II.

Did the trial court err in admitting the 911 call made by Thomas Francis where Francis had no personal knowledge of the alleged crimes and the statements that he made on the 911 call did not fall under any recognized hearsay exception?

III.

Did the trial court err in admitting a photograph of the deceased over counsel's objection under Rule 403, SCRE, without performing the requisite analysis on the record, where the photograph did not depict the deceased as Appellant allegedly left him, it was "staged" and was calculated to inflame the passions of the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 15, 2016 Appellant was indicted by an Anderson County grand jury for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, attempted murder, grand larceny and first-degree burglary. R. 451. On January 22, 2019 Appellant was direct indicted for kidnapping. R. 451.

The state, represented by Stanford Lee Overby, Jr. and Catherine Huey, called the case to trial before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. and a jury on February 11, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by A. Hadden Lucas and Victoria Gurney. R. 1. Prior to the start of trial, the state amended the burglary indictment to second-degree burglary. R. 3.

After a four-day trial, Appellant was found guilty of voluntary manslaughter, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, second-degree assault and battery, grand larceny and second-degree burglary. R. 429-431. Judge Maddox sentenced Appellant to imprisonment for thirty years, suspended upon the service of twenty-five years with probation to follow on the manslaughter charge, five years consecutive on the possession of a weapon charge, three years concurrent on the assault and battery charge, ten years concurrent on the burglary charge, and ten years concurrent on the grand larceny charge. Id. Appellant was acquitted of the kidnapping charge. Id.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant’s motion to sever the burglary and grand larceny charges from the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping charges where the offenses did not arise from a single chain of events, were not of the same general nature and were not supported by the same evidence.

Standard of Review

“Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.” State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996) (citing State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 464, 334 S.E.2d 289, 290 (Ct.App.1985)). “A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” Id. (citing State v. Anderson, 318 S.C. 395, 398, 458 S.E.2d 56, 57–58 (Ct.App.1995)). A trial judge’s decision to allow joinder of charges that do not arise from a single course of conduct, are not of the same general nature, are not proved by the same evidence, and prejudices a defendant’s substantial rights is an abuse of discretion. State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 639, 785 S.E.2d 202, 206 (2016); State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (1985) (reversing prejudicial joinder because “nothing in this record shows these two forgeries are connected”).

Relevant Facts

In the early morning hours of May 26, 2016, Appellant, Ahmed Fallous (the decedent), and Morgan Rhodes were together at the home Fallous and Rhodes shared.¹ Appellant spoke to both Fallous and Rhodes separately that evening, apparently about the possible physical abuse Rhodes was suffering from Fallous. R. 70, l. 15-R. 72, l. 6. After having the private conversations, the three left in Appellant's black SUV and headed to Appellant's house. R. 58, ll. 2-5; R. 59, ll. 13-16. While driving, Appellant and Fallous got into a verbal altercation, partly over the fact that Appellant had become sick and was throwing up, causing Appellant to stop the car on Centerville Road Bridge. R. 60, ll. 4-23; R. 72, ll. 7-9. The argument moved outside of the car and became physical. R. 61, ll. 5-22. The fight escalated until Fallous and Appellant were shooting at each other. R. 76, ll. 19-21; R. 83, ll. 5-12.

After the shooting Appellant put Rhodes in his SUV and they left the scene continuing to drive in the direction of Appellant's home. According to Rhodes Appellant was acting "psychotic" and "unhinged" and was driving erratically. R. 64, 16-19. Appellant struck a tree but continued to drive. Eventually the SUV became inoperable and ended up in a ditch. R. 63, l. 19-R. 65, l. 5. Rhodes stated that after the wreck Appellant got out of the SUV, came around to the passenger side where she was seated and punched, kicked, slapped, strangled, and pistol whipped her. R. 65, l. 13-R. 66, l. 9. Rhodes fought back, kicking Appellant "as hard as she could." R. 67, ll. 5-8. Appellant began throwing up again which allowed Rhodes to close the passenger side door and lock Appellant out of the SUV. R. 67, ll. 11-14. As Appellant ran into the woods Rhodes thought she heard gunshots and smelled burning. R. 67, ll. 24-R. 68, l. 12.

¹ Fallous and Rhodes were in a romantic relationship and had been together for just over a year. R. 55, 21-24.

After hiding in the car for roughly ten minutes Rhodes flagged down a passing vehicle for assistance. R. 68, ll. 13-20.

Early on June 1, 2016, Elizabeth McCarson and her boyfriend, Ashley Moore, were sitting in Moore's truck in McCarson's driveway when an unknown truck pulled up behind them. R. 266, ll. 13-14; R. 268, ll. 2-8; R. 276, ll. 1-3. The driver of the unknown truck was Appellant, and he was looking to speak to his longtime friend Moore. R. 268, ll. 19-20; R. 271, ll. 9-14. Appellant, who was "scruffy and disheveled" stated that he had been in the woods for the past week, naked, trying to find shelter. R. 269, l. 25-R. 270, l. 17. Appellant further stated that he had been hiding in barns and using various items, such as doormats, to keep warm. R. 273, ll. 15-25.

Appellant told Moore and McCarson he eventually found a home that he was able enter where he got some clothes. R. 274, ll. 1-4. While in that home Appellant also found a spare car key. R. 274, ll. 3-4; R. 285, l. 5-10. With the spare key Appellant was able to take a truck owned by Day Ray. R. 281, ll. 20-21. Appellant was driving Ray's truck when he arrived at McCarson's house. R. 274, ll. 3-7. When Moore and McCarson told Appellant that he was wanted, that the incident was all over the news, and that Fallous had died he was very surprised. R. 288, ll. 20-25; R. 271, ll. 15-18.

Moore placed a cellphone in the truck that Appellant was driving, and that device eventually led police to Appellant. R. 275, ll. 12-19. Appellant was arrested by the U.S. Marshal Service on June 1, 2016, in Knoxville, Tennessee. R. 241, ll. 2-5. At the time of his arrest Appellant was discovered to be in possession of a stolen 2014 F-150. R. 242, l. 9-R. 243, l. 13. The F-150 belonged to Dan Ray, who was unaware that his truck had been stolen until he received a phone call from Anderson County Deputy Jay Lindsey. R. 281, ll.11-21. Prior to that

phone call, Ray had last seen the truck around 9:00 PM on May 31, 2016. R. 281, ll. 22-24. Ray stated that a set of keys to the truck, which were kept inside his home by the garage door, were missing. R. 281 l. 25-R. 282, l. 8.

Prior to the start of trial, Counsel Lucas made a motion to sever the burglary and grand larceny charges from the murder, attempted murder and kidnapping charges. R. 6-8. Counsel Lucas argued that the burglary and grand larceny charges would not be proven by the same evidence, were not of the same general nature as the other charges and did not arise from the same event or series of events as the burglary and grand larceny had occurred five days after the other charges. Id. The state replied that Appellant took the truck in an effort to escape apprehension on the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping charges, therefore the incidents were part of the same chain of events. R. 6, ll. 2-5; R. 10, ll. 5-6. The trial court denied the motion to sever ruling that both incidents were part of one continuous event even though they were separated by five days. R. 10, ll. 20-25

Discussion

Whether or not it is proper for a South Carolina trial court to allow joinder of charges is governed solely by case law. There is no rule in the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure to offer a court guidance on this matter. Instead joinder is determined by a four-part test that has been developed through precedent. Joinder is proper when the charges sought to be joined for trial: (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same facts, (3) are of the same general nature, *and* (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced. State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985) (emphasis added). Importantly, *all four parts of the test must be satisfied* for joinder to be proper. See, Id. at 464, 344 S.E.2d. at 290; See also,

State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 785 S.E.2d 202 (2016) (Pleicones, C.J. dissenting in a separate opinion in which Beatty, J. concurs).

The trial court committed reversible error in Appellant's case when it refused to sever the grand larceny and burglary charges from the other indictments Appellant faced. The court ruled that the incidents were part of one continuous event, thus joinder was proper. This ruling was not only incorrect as to the "single chain" portion of the test but completely ignored the other three prongs that the court was required to consider. Reviewing the facts as they pertain to the four elements of the test reveal that the court should have granted Appellant's motion to sever.

First, the burglary and grand larceny charges did not arise from the same circumstances as the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping charges. Setting aside the fact that these incidents were separated by five days, there was no connection between the crimes. The state theorized that Appellant broke into Ray's home and stole his truck to avoid apprehension from law enforcement but nothing in the record supported that contention. According to the state's witness McCarson, Appellant had broken into Ray's home for clothes and took the truck as an afterthought. Further, it was only *after* Appellant had taken the truck and arrived at McCarson's house that he learned he was wanted in connect to the events that had occurred five days prior. His surprise at being wanted, and of learning of the death of Fallous, indicated that his state of mind during the burglary and grand larceny was in no way related to the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping.

Secondly, the evidence required to prove the burglary and grand larceny was completely separate and distinct from the evidence used to prove the murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping. The murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping charges arose from an incident between Fallous, Rhodes, and Appellant, five days before the alleged burglary and grand

larceny. The burglary and grand larceny occurred at a home unrelated to the parties or previous events. The state argued the burglary and grand larceny were properly joined to show flight as evidence of guilt. However, the state could, and did, show flight by proving Appellant was arrested in Tennessee.

Third, the charges were not of the same general nature. Murder, attempted murder, and kidnapping are classified as “offenses against the person.” S.C. Code Title 16, Chapter 3. All three of the charges are violent offenses and require an actual victim to be present during the commission of the offense. By marked contrast, burglary is classified as an “offense against property,” and larceny falls under the “forgery, larceny, embezzlement, false pretenses and cheats” section of the South Carolina Code. S.C. Code Title 16, Chapter 11 and 13. Both of these offenses are considered property crimes and do not require an actual victim to be present during the commission of the offense. Further, larceny is a non-violent offense and while burglary can be classified as a violent offense it was non-violent in this case. These sets of charges are completely different in terms of class and character.

Finally, trying all of the charges at the same time was inherently prejudicial to Appellant. At trial Appellant asserted self-defense. Considering Appellant was convicted of manslaughter instead of murder, it is likely that the jury strongly considered all of the evidence Appellant presented, including the claim of self-defense. However, this defense was significantly weakened when the burglary and grand larceny charges were presented to the jury at the same time. Appellant went from an individual involved in an isolated incident in which Appellant asserted he acted in self-defense to a “spree” criminal who was doing whatever he could to avoid capture.

Comparing the facts of Appellant's case to prior decisions of both this Court and the Supreme Court is highly instructive. In State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985), this Court reversed Tate's conviction where the trial court had improperly joined two forgery charges. The two forgeries happened at two different liquor stores approximately a month apart. Despite the fact that the offenses were the same this Court found that they did not arise out of a single chain of events and were not proven by the same evidence, therefore joinder was not proper.

Similarly, in State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 470 S.E.2d 364 (1996), the Supreme Court found that an assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) charge and a homicide by child abuse charge were not properly joined. The ABHAN charge related to injuries suffered by Smith's girlfriend's son, while the homicide charge related to the death of Smith's girlfriend's baby daughter. Smith had admitted to beating the boy child but the case on the homicide was entirely circumstantial as there was no evidence, outside of the statement of the child's mother who had also admitted to beating her baby girl, that Smith ever touched the baby girl. The Court held that the denial of the motion to sever prejudiced Smith because the evidence presented in the ABHAN case would not have been admissible against Smith in a separate homicide trial. Importantly, in finding prejudice, the court did not comment on the other prongs of the test. It follows then that once one portion of the four-part test is not met, the cases cannot be joined.

In State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 339 S.E.2d 692 (1986), Middleton was tried together on indictments for murder, criminal sexual conduct, attempted armed robbery, aggravated assault, and aggravated assault and battery. At trial the state argued that consolidation was justified because even though the crimes occurred on separate days, they were all part of a crime

spree, were committed within a radius of a few miles, and the same knife was used throughout the crimes. The Court held however that the case clearly failed to meet the requirements for consolidation as the crimes did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and required different evidence for proof. The Court further noted that the prejudice to Middleton was apparent.

In contrast, the facts of State v. Tucker, 342 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996), supported joinder. Tucker was convicted of murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime (collectively known as the Oakley murder) along with first-degree burglary, third-degree burglary, and larceny. At both trial and on appeal, Tucker argued that the burglary charges were improperly joined with the Oakley murder charges. Critical to the Court's decision in this case was a statement Tucker had made that he was aware that police were actively searching for him and committed the burglaries to clean up and "hide out." Id. at 164, 478 S.E.2d 265. The Court found that the crimes arose out of a single chain of circumstances because Tucker *committed the subsequent burglaries solely to avoid capture by police for the Oakley crimes* and that the crimes would all be proven by the same evidence as the burglaries would have been admissible to prove flight and identity of the individual involved in the Oakley murder.

Likewise, in State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 785 S.E.2d 202 (2016), the Court held that joinder of Beekman's charges of criminal sexual conduct with a minor on his stepson and lewd act upon a child on his stepdaughter was proper. The facts supporting joinder showed that the children were abused by the same individual, in the same manner, in the same place, and in the same time frame. That penetration occurred only on the stepson was not enough to sever the charges. The court found all four-parts of the joinder test were met, particularly that the crimes

were from a single string of events because they were “closely related in kind, place and character,” that the charges were proven by much of the same evidence, were of the same general nature and there was no prejudice to Beekman in the joint trial. Id. at 637, S.E.2d 205.

Applying the case law of this state to the facts of Appellant’s case shows that Appellant was more similarly situated to the defendants in Tate, Smith, and Middleton, *supra*, where joinder was found to be improper, than he was to those in Tucker and Beekman, *supra*. Unlike Tucker, Appellant had no knowledge that police were looking for him and was surprised to learn that he was wanted. Further he allegedly committed the burglary and larceny before finding out that he was wanted. The logic that allowed joinder in Tucker fails in the present action as there was no proof that Appellant was committing the burglary and larceny solely to avoid capture.

Unlike Beekman, Appellant’s crimes were not closely related in kind, place and character. Nor were they proven by the same evidence. Appellant finds himself most closely situated to the defendant in Middleton where the state alleged a crime spree that was unsupported by the evidence. There, as here, joinder was improper and the prejudice of introduction of the other crimes was apparent.

II.

The trial court erred in admitting the 911 call made by Thomas Francis where Francis had no personal knowledge of the alleged crimes and the statements that he made on the 911 call did not fall under any recognized hearsay exception.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 454, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000); State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1999); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004).

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. app. 2000); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 228, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion of the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. Mansfield, 343 S.C. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 263.

Relevant Facts

At 2:14 AM John Gibby made a 911 call (Gibby call) to report a shooting. State's Ex. 1²; R. 121, ll. 21-23. Gibby reported he had been fishing off a dock located near the bridge when he heard a "pop, pop, pop," saw sparks and heard a girl "hollering." State's Ex. 1. Gibby drove from the dock up onto the bridge as a black SUV left the scene. State's Ex. 1. Gibby

² State's Ex. 1 is on file with Court.

found Fallous in the wood line, shot, but alive and he asked him who shot him. State's Ex. 1. Gibby reported that Fallous said "C.J.", then "Stephen", and then "Parten or Barten." State's Ex. 1.

Roughly an hour late, at 3:06 AM, Thomas Francis made a 911 (Francis call) as he drove past a wrecked car and saw a lady that was hurt. State's Ex. 2³; R. 48, ll. 3-6. Francis, who had been on his way to work, was flagged down by Rhodes as he drove past the wrecked SUV. R. 49, ll. 6-22. Francis picked up Rhodes and drove to the Hopewell Baptist Church to wait for the police. R. 50, ll. 9-13. Francis stayed on the phone while until law enforcement and EMS arrived. The 911 call lasted thirteen minutes and twenty-eight seconds. State's Ex. 2. During the call Francis was questioning Rhodes, at the request of the 911 operator, and was reporting back what she told him, which included details about her injuries, attack, and the incident on the bridge. State's Ex. 2.

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