RECEIVED

Jun 04 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County
Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STEPHEN GRANT PARTEN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000326

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main St.
Anderson, SC 29624
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

One can detect from the 911 call itself that Rhodes was under the stress of the startling event. She is heard crying a couple of times and she sounds distraught, emotional about her experience, and panicked about Fallous' fate. When asked if Rhodes was upset, Francis replied, "Yes, very much so." R. p. 54, lines 9-10. Investigator Proner, who responded to the church after the 911 call, observed Rhodes with blood on her hands and in her hair, and described her as visibly shaken and upset while he spoke with her. R. pp. 157-58. Investigator Nathan Mitchell

also spoke with Rhodes and described her as emotional and hysterical as if she had been through a traumatic event. R. p. 235.

The facts in the instant case therefore correspond with the facts supporting this Court's holding in Hendricks that the rape victim's statements constituted excited utterance. In Hendricks, this Court noted the victim was shaking, crying, and distraught, which showed the victim was under the stress of excitement from being kidnapped, beaten, and raped by the appellant. The victim's out of court statements related to those crimes. Therefore, the victim's statements constituted excited utterance. Hendricks, 408 S.C. at 532, 759 S.E.2d at 438.

As in Hendricks, the trial record in the instant case supports a finding that Rhodes' statements heard during the 911 call and her statements to Francis constitute an excited utterance. Rhodes experienced a series of startling events: she witnessed Parten and her boyfriend engage in an argument, then a physical fight, and witnessed Parten shoot Fallous. She was kidnapped, beaten, in a car wreck, and held under siege once she locked Parten out of his own car. Rhodes estimated Francis found her about ten minutes after Parten ran away. R. p. 68. Therefore, the experience was still fresh when she spoke to Francis and is heard on the 911 call. Even later, when speaking with law enforcement officers, she remained hysterical and emotional. R. pp. 157-58; p. 235. See State v. Sledge, 428 S.C. 40, 54, 832 S.E.2d 633, 641 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding 911 caller whose mother was shot, was under the duress of the startling event even though the caller attempted to remain calm while relating information, the caller could be heard crying at times and expressed shock, disbelief, and fear during the call). Finally, Rhodes' statements were about the startling events: the kidnapping, the shooting, and Parten's assaults inflicted on her. The portions of the 911 call where she is heard, and her statements to Francis, constituted excited utterance.

Further, at least some of Francis' statements in the 911 call do not constitute hearsay because the statements constitute present sense impression. Under Rule 803(1), SCRE, testimony is admissible under present sense impression if it is a "statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." "The idea of immediacy lies at the heart of the exception; thus, the time requirement underlying the exception is strict because it is the factor that assures trustworthiness." United States v. Green, 556 F.3d 151, 156 (3d Cir. 2009). "The basis of the present sense impression exception is that closeness in time between the event and the declarant's statement reduces the likelihood of deliberate or conscious misrepresentation." State v. Washington, 424 S.C. 374, 400, 818 S.E.2d 472 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting State v. Pickens, 488 S.E.2d 162, 171 (N.C. 1997)).

The present sense impression exception is modeled after the Federal Rules of Evidence. See Rule 803 cmt., SCRE. The Note provided by the Advisory Committee to the 1972 proposed rules explains the inclusion of the present sense impression exception: "The underlying theory of Exception [paragraph] (1) is that substantial contemporaneity of event and statement negates the likelihood of deliberate or conscious misrepresentation." Rule 803 cmt., FRE.

Certainly, the circumstances in the present case negate the likelihood of deliberate or conscious misrepresentation. Francis was relaying answers to questions concomitantly with Rhodes' excited utterances – the likelihood of a deliberate or conscious misrepresentation was negated by the circumstances. In United States v. Ibiešević, 675 F.3d 342 (4th Cir. 2012), Ibiešević, a Bosnian citizen working in the United States with a limited level of proficiency in English, was charged with multiple offenses for failing to report, and concealing possession of, more than \$10,000 in currency when leaving the country. When questioned by the customs

agent, he told the agent he only carried \$5,000 in cash and equivalents, but under further questioning, Ibiasevic admitted carrying \$40,000 stored in three different belongings. Ibiasevic's mother testified for the government. She was present while the customs agent questioned Ibiasevic. She did not speak English and testified at trial through an interpreter. Defense counsel attempted to elicit testimony from her on cross-examination that Ibiasevic told her in Serbian that the agent was asking him how much the luggage was worth if it had to be replaced. Id. at 347. The Fourth Circuit held that Ibiasevic's statement to his mother was not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show his failure to understand the agent's questions. Further, the Fourth Circuit found the statement was present sense impression because Ibiasevic made the statement to his mother immediately after listening and answering the agent's questions. Id. at 349.

In the present case, some of Francis' out of court statements were about events or conditions he perceived, and he related them close in time to when he perceived them. Francis saw the front end damage to the car, the blood on Rhodes, and her injuries. He also heard something or someone in the woods, which was not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to explain why he took Rhodes to the church. Other statements were merely relaying Rhodes' statements to the 911 operator, without opportunity for conscious misrepresentation of the relayed statement's content, and even if they constitute hearsay, the statements are generally cumulative to Rhodes' own statements that are audible during the call.

The cumulative nature of Francis' out of court statements renders any error harmless. Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978). The identity of Fallous' shooter was not in question. Deputy Carroll and the caller in State's Exhibit 1 both

related Fallous' dying declaration that Parten was the shooter. Parten admitted he felt he needed to take care of Rhodes and admitted fleeing through the woods when he visited Moore and McCarson. Rhodes' testimony that she was assaulted was supported by testimony by the treating physician, the two law enforcement officers whom she spoke with, and the photographs of her admitted into evidence. Investigators found the tree Parten hit, with a trail of fluid leading away, and the car itself with its front end damage to corroborate that Rhodes was involved in the car wreck. Parten's dramatic flight is further evidence of Parten's guilt.

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1947). When a review of the entire record establishes an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). "Harmless error rules . . . 'serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.'" State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967)); see also State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) ("Engaging in this harmless error analysis, we note that our jurisprudence requires us not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.").

III.

The photograph of the deceased, taken from the opposite side of the road from where the deceased lay, was probative and not unduly prejudicial. The body was not staged, but moved to the location shown in the photograph because officers moved the body to the road to have a hard stable surface to perform CPR in an attempt to save the deceased's life.

Parten claims a single picture of the deceased, taken from the opposite side of the road, was unfairly prejudicial because, to paraphrase, it showed a dead person with some blood and a torn shirt. The photograph was probative and not unduly prejudicial. Other than the fact it shows a deceased individual, the photograph is hardly graphic for a murder trial and was probative to corroborate law enforcement's testimony, to establish the corpus delicti, and to show steps law enforcement took to preserve evidence.

Parten objected to the photograph and asked to "approach briefly to put an objection on the record." R. p. 97, lines 15-19. The trial court advised, "It won't be on the record if you go over there." R. p. 97, lines 20-21. Counsel's objection was based "on 403 grounds and also it's gruesome and intended to inflame the passion of the jury." R. p. 97, line 25 – p. 98, line 6. Counsel did not offer any further elaboration. The trial court advised, "We have had some discussion off the record. I think that its probative value outweighs its probability of inflaming the passions of the jury." R. p. 98, lines 7-10. Any further description of the ruling was not placed on the record, including the reasons why counsel thought the picture might be unduly gruesome or would inflame the jury. Further, the trial court's comments show, despite the perfunctory objection, that the trial court conducted a proper Rule 403, SCRE, analysis.

For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the

evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App.2004). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006).

A trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App.2004). The relevance, materiality and admissibility of photographic evidence, like other evidence, is within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Kelly, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). The trial court does not abuse its discretion if the photographs serve to corroborate testimony. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997).

In the instant case, the photograph, exhibit 7e, constitutes evidence of the corpus delicti. Additionally, it corroborates testimony and evidence in several ways. First, the photograph adds context and corroborates Corporal Carroll’s testimony, in tandem with the other pictures constituting exhibits 7a-d, to show to where Fallous was located when law enforcement arrived and how Fallous came to rest on the road. Deputy Carroll and another officer moved Fallous to perform CPR on a flat, hard surface in an attempt to save his life. R. pp. 99-103. Therefore, the accusation in Appellant’s statement of the issue that law enforcement “staged” the photograph is simply false and is an unfair accusation against a law enforcement officer attempting to save the shooting victim’s life.

Further, the picture shows Fallous' hands covered with paper bags. This is probative to show the efforts law enforcement took to preserve evidence for GSR analysis. This was particularly probative in the instant case as the defense presented its own expert to impeach testimony from forensic experts and to assert a sufficient amount of residue was found on Fallous' hands to establish, in the defense expert's opinion, a probability that Fallous fired his own weapon. Therefore, the single picture of Fallous provided sufficient probative value to be admissible.

The single photograph itself is not unfairly prejudicial. "To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a 'tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.'" Kelly, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (citation omitted).

The photograph simply is unlikely to suggest a decision on an improper basis. It informs the jury of the existence of a deceased person which is unsurprising to a jury sitting in a murder trial. The photograph is somewhat distant from the body, taken from the opposite side of the road. The distance minimizes the graphicness of the body. Additionally, the photograph does not show the deceased's face. It does not show the entrance wound. One can see the shirt was cut open, which is corroborative of testimony, but not inflammatory. Blood is scarcely detectable on Fallous' right arm and perhaps, if straining one's eyes, some blood is detected on the paper bag on his left hand. The shirt may or may not be blood-soaked, but it is not obvious in the picture due to the angle and distance from which the picture was taken. In comparison to photographs in other homicide cases, this photograph could scarcely be considered gruesome. Nothing about the photograph should be surprising to a jury well aware it is sitting in a murder trial.

In comparison, in Kelly, the Supreme Court described the photographs it found admissible as follows:

[T]wo photographs are of the victim's nude body lying on the living room floor with her face and body visible swollen from the beating. Additionally, the photographs show blood smeared on the walls and floor. The video shows the entire crime scene. These photographs and video were relevant to establish the crime scene.

Kelly, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370 (citation omitted). In the instant case, the trial court simply did not abuse its discretion in admitting the photograph.

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1947). When a review of the entire record establishes an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

The jury's verdict, including an acquittal for kidnapping and for lesser included offenses in lieu of murder and attempted murder, suggest that the jury's ability to objectively review the evidence was not undermined by the single picture. Further, any error was harmless in light of the substantial evidence presented at trial. It is just not likely the single picture improperly contributed to the verdict obtained.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.